
NORTH CAROLINA ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL    
COMMISSION MINUTES 

FEBRUARY 18, 2010 
 
 

The following narrative and summary highlights action taken by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Commission at its meeting on February 18, 2010, beginning at 10:00 AM. The meeting was 
recorded and the disk is on file at the ABC Commission in the Legal Division. 
 
ROLL CALL 

 
Chairman Jonathan S. Williams, Commissioner J.D. Lyon and Commissioner Zander Guy were present at 
the meeting. 
 
MINUTES OF JANUARY 13, 2010, MEETING 

 
Chairman Williams made a motion to waive the reading of the minutes from the January 13, 2010, 
meeting into the record. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. Chairman Williams made a 
motion to approve the minutes from the January 13, 2010, meeting. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So 
Ordered. 

 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 
As required by North Carolina General Statute 138A-15, Chairman Williams asked Commissioner Lyon 
and Commissioner Guy if there were any conflicts of interest or any conditions or facts that might create 
the appearance of a conflict of interest with respect to any matters on the Agenda. Chairman Williams, 
Commissioner Lyon and Commissioner Guy stated that they found no conflicts of interest.  

 
I. HEARING CASES – 69 
 
Chairman Williams stated the meeting would begin with the contested cases. 
 
Chief Counsel Fred Gregory stated that the first case to be heard was contested case #1, R B FoodMarket. 
Mr. Timothy Morse, Assistant Counsel, represented the Commission at the administrative hearing. 
Administrative Law Judge Selina M. Brooks was assigned to the case and she issued an order for 
prehearing statements to each party.  The permittee did not file prehearing statements, so the judge issued 
a second order but the permittee never filed a prehearing statement. Mr. Morse filed a Motion for 
Sanctions, that Judge Brooks granted and the judge and issued a decision recommending a fifteen day 
active suspension and $500.00 penalty. Mr. Morse, asked the Commission to adopt the decision of the 
Administrative Law Judge.  
 
Mr. Bibhor Rimal, owner of the establishment told the Commission that when he received the notice of 
the administrative hearing, he went to court and later realized that he went on the wrong day. He was out 
of the country for a month, and wasn’t aware that any further information was sent to him regarding the 
administrative hearing. He had attended a RASP training class and he asked the Commission for a 
reduction in the penalty. 

Mr. Rimal claimed that the underage buyer had previously purchased alcohol from the clerk and the clerk 
did not check the identification on this occasion. The underage buyer did admit that he possessed a fake 
identification, but did not acknowledge that it was used at this particular location.  



2 

 

Mr. Rimal stated he would gladly pay the original offer in compromise and was allowed to sign the an 
offer for a nine day suspension of ABC permits or a $900.00 fine. 

Chairman Williams made a motion to reduce the penalty from $900.00 to $600.00, based upon the fact 
that the permittee had taken the RASP Class. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. 

The next contested case was #2, Big Boys Market. Mrs. Carson was present to speak on behalf of her 
establishment. Mr. Morse represented the Commission at the administrative hearing.  

Administrative Law Judge Selina M. Brooks was assigned to the case and issued an order for prehearing 
statements to each party.  The permittee did not file prehearing statements, so the judge issued a second 
order. The permittee never filed a prehearing statement. Mr. Morse stated that he filed a Motion for 
Sanctions; Judge Brooks granted his motion and issued a decision with a recommended forty day active 
suspension and $1,000.00 penalty. Mr. Morse, asked the Commission to adopt the decision of the 
Administrative Law Judge.  
 
Mrs. Carson stated that she was the owner of the business. She stated that she told her employees to make 
sure they check identifications, but that they don’t listen. Mrs. Carson stated that she is aware that she is 
responsible for the permit, but she can’t control what the employees do. She stated that a forty day 
suspension was too much and she would lose her business.  
 
Chairman Williams asked Mrs. Carson why she didn’t respond to the notice regarding the administrative 
hearing. Mrs. Carson stated she did not see the notice when it was mailed to her. Chairman Williams 
asked Mr. Morse what was the original offer in compromise. Mr. Morse stated that it was a thirty-five day 
suspension, with the last five days suspended upon payment of $3,500.00. 
 
After consulting with Mr. Morse, Mrs. Carson agreed and signed an offer in compromise. Chairman 
Williams made a motion to accept the signed offer in compromise. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So 
Ordered. 
 
Chairman Williams asked Mr. Morse to speak with Mrs. Carson regarding the penalty. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Bob Hanna, Store Manager of hearing case #10, Lowes Foods 159, 
was present to speak on behalf of the business. Mr. Hanna asked the Commission to reduce the penalty 
based upon the training and rules that are in place to deter the employees from selling to minors. 
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to reduce the penalty from $900.00 to $700.00, upon the stipulation 
that all the employees attend a RASP Class within the next 90 days. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So 
Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Hite, owner of hearing case #60, Wildflour Pizza Cozumel, was 
present to speak on behalf of his business. Mr. Hite stated that an Alcohol Law Enforcement Agent 
checked his business and found three bottles of spirituous liquor in the cooler without tax stamps. There 
was some condensation on the bottles and the agent could feel some evidence of glue on the bottle where 
the tax stamp would have been. They looked at the bottom of the cooler and there was water, but no tax 
stamps. 
 
Mr. Hite stated that he has never purchased alcohol without paying the taxes. 
 



3 

 

After conferring with the other Commissioners, Chairman Williams made a motion to issue a written 
warning, based upon the fact that the permittee has held ABC permits since 1986 with only one violation 
being 12 years ago. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered.  
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Glenn B. Lassiter, Jr., attorney for hearing cases #19, Food Lion 
1290 and #20, Food Lion 1290, was present to speak on behalf of his client. Mr. Lassiter introduced Mr. 
Teriss Young, with the Food Lion legal staff. Mr. Young stated that he wanted to let the Commission 
know that Food Lion LLC has instituted a number of different training options over the years in order to 
eliminate underage sells. 
 
Commissioner Guy asked how Food Lion handles a situation where the employee sells to a minor. Mr. 
Lassiter stated that the employee would be suspended pending further review. If seen as a pattern of 
conduct, the employee would be fired. 
 
Mr. Lassiter asked the Commission for some leniency with regard to the penalty.  
 
Chairman Williams asked Mr. Gregory to meet with Mr. Lassiter to come to a compromise regarding the 
violations. 
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to change the penalty to $25,000.00 for hearing cases #19 and #20. 
Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that hearing cases #66, and #67, Diageo North America were the next to be 
heard. Mr. Gregory stated that the CEO of the Mecklenburg County ABC Board solicited an offer for 
dinner from Diageo North America. Since Mecklenburg ABC is a big client, Diageo North American felt 
that they should pay for the dinner.   
 
Mr. Keith Kapp, attorney for Diageo North America was present. Mr. Kapp stated that he had submitted a 
letter regarding the situation.  
 
Chairman Williams stated that Diageo North American had been forthcoming with the Commission 
regarding all the inquiries. 
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to accept the offers in compromise for hearing cases #66 and #67. 
Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that hearing case #41, Edgewood Mini Mart was to be carried over.   
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to approve the remaining offers in compromises, with the exception of 
previously ratified cases. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. 
 
II. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Administrator Michael Herring stated that on January 26, 2010, the Commission received at letter from 
Mr. Joseph E. Wall, Executive Director and General Counsel for North Carolina Association of ABC 
Boards, requesting an exemption from G.S. 18B-1116(a). The Commission has the authority under G.S. 
18B-1116(b) to grant exemptions. The Association has an upcoming supervisors meeting on March 23rd 
and March 24th.  
 



4 

 

At the meeting they plan to have a product knowledge seminar, along with a new product sampling. They 
are asking for an exemption to allow industry members to come in and show their products to the ABC 
supervisors for tasting. Each tasting will be about one hour. Mr. Herring stated that Mr. Wall was present 
to answer any questions that Commission might have. 
 
Mr. Wall stated that he sent a letter to the Commission as an amendment to his previous letter dated 
January 26, 2010. It’s come to his attention that they may not have the new product program because of 
some reluctance from industry members to participate. There was also another request for exemption for  
the NABCA 2010 Annual Conference, May 15th thru May 19th, to allow the members of the Board of 
Directors of the North Carolina Association of ABC Boards to attend the conference and to visit industry 
hospitality rooms in conjunction with the Conference. This year the Conference is by invitation only and 
sixteen or less members will be in attendance. 
 
Chairman Williams asked for a motion to approve the exemption request under G.S. 18B-1116(b), for the 
product tasting at the North Carolina Association of ABC Boards supervisors meeting. Seconded by 
Commission Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
Chairman Williams asked for a motion to approve the exemption for the NABCA 2010 Annual Confence. 
Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
 
With no further business, the meeting adjourned. 

 
 
_______________________________________      
Jonathan S. Williams, Chairman 
N.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 

 
Respectfully submitted by 

 
 
_______________________________________ 
Tiffany Goodson, Legal Division 
 


